Petition for Review Filed 12-01-2

Filed 12-01-2022 Page 1 of 36

FILED 12-01-2022 CLERK OF WISCONSIN SUPREME COURT

STATE OF WISCONSIN

IN THE SUPREME COURT

Case No. 2021AP1834-CR

STATE OF WISCONSIN,

Plaintiff-Respondent,

v.

ETTER L. HUGHES,

Defendant-Appellant-Petitioner.

PETITION FOR REVIEW

NICOLE M. MASNICA State Bar No. 1079819 Email: nmasnica@grgblaw.com

Gimbel Reilly Guerin & Brown LLP 330 E. Kilbourn Ave., Suite 1170 Milwaukee, WI 53202

Attorney for the Defendant – Appellant – Petitioner

ISSUES PRESENTED

1. Did the court of appeals error in concluding that *State v. Cross,* 2010 WI 70, 326 Wis. 2d 492, 786 N.W.2d 64, a holding involving the weighing of the value of misinformation in a *Bangert* claim when determining whether plea withdrawal is appropriate, was applicable in a *Nelson/Bentley* claim to support its conclusion that a defendant knowingly and voluntarily entered a plea despite receiving indisputably incorrect information regarding the value of a plea bargain – in this case that Ms. Hughes benefited from the dismissal of two Class F felony charges when those charges were multiplicitous and conviction would not have been legally possible?

The court of appeals held that Ms. Hughes' plea was knowing and voluntary despite the fact that she believed that she was receiving a benefit regarding the dismissal of two Class F felonies as part of the plea agreement when those charges were indisputably multiplicitous. The court opined that it was not satisfied that but for the error in permitting multiplicitous charges to be added in an amended information in the

Case 2021AP001834 Petition for Review Filed 12-01-2022 Page 6 of 36

days leading up to trial in response to Ms. Hughes making her intentions to proceed with trial clear, she would have rejected the plea offer and proceeded to trial instead.

In support of its position, the court of appeals relied upon *State v. Cross*, a case involving a *Bangert* claim where a defendant was informed by the judge during the colloquy of an incorrect and higher maximum possible penalty, where this court declined to grant plea withdrawal because the differences in potential exposure were not significant in the court's view. The court of appeals concluded that even though *Cross* did not involve a *Nelson/Bentley* claim challenging the knowing nature of the plea, the same logic applies.

Thus, it held that because Ms. Hughes received the benefit of a third charge being dismissed as part of the plea agreement, a first degree reckless homicide that had been added in the same amended information on the eve of trial, Ms. Hughes had the requisite understanding and knowledge of the benefits of the plea agreement. Therefore, the court concluded her pleas were knowing and voluntary as a matter of law.

The circuit court briefly concluded that the amendment was proper without specific detail because "[c]ounts three and four were based on the defendant's knowledge that Martinez was abusing TW and JW and her failure to act to prevent the abuse and counts five and six were based on the defendant's repeated abuse of TW and JW, either directly or as a party to a crime." Therefore, the court held there was no multiplicity issue.

Case 2021AP001834 Petition for Review Filed 12-01-2022 Page 7 of 36

2. Did the court of appeals err in concluding that trial counsel was not ineffective as a matter of law because Ms. Hughes failed to satisfy the prejudice prong, having previously concluded the errors of counsel did not result in her plea being knowing and voluntary?

The court of appeals held that because Ms. Hughes' plea remained knowing and voluntary despite the multiplicity issue (and it concluded there was no error in the addition of the third charge), trial counsel was not ineffective as a matter of law because no prejudice had occurred.

The circuit court held that because there was no prejudice caused by the filing of the amended information related to any of the three additional charges, trial counsel could not have been ineffective for failing to raise an objection.

CRITERIA FOR REVIEW

At issue in this petition is a question of whether the precedent created by State v. Cross, 2010 WI 70, 326 Wis. 2d 492, 786 N.W.2d 64, a case involving a faulty plea colloquy and Bangert claim, not a Nelson/Bentley claim that the plea was unknowing and involuntary, permits a reviewing court to assess the likelihood that a defendant would have still entered into a plea agreement following that individual receiving indisputably incorrect information about the benefits of the agreement such that they believed they were receiving a legal benefit that could never come to fruition. Here, the court of appeals, concluded that this precedent is applicable to Nelson/Bentley claims, citing State v. Howell, 2007 WI 75, ¶8, 301 Wis. 2d 350, 734

Case 2021AP001834 Petition for Review Filed 12-01-2022 Page 8 of 36

N.W.2d 4, to support its position ("[I]t has been recognized that the issues raised in [Bangert and Nelson/Bentley] claims may sometimes be interrelated." (Appeal No. 2021AP1834-CR, COA Decision, ¶40).

The court of appeals decision, however, is seemingly undermined by reference to the *Cross* case in the Wisconsin Supreme Court decision, *State v. Dillard*, 2014 WI 123, 358 Wis. 2d 543, 859 N.W.2d 44.

In *Dillard*, this court weighed this very question in the footnotes, but did not specifically address the matter in the holding as both the State and defendant agreed that *Cross* was inapplicable. The Court wrote:

The defect alleged in *Cross* was "insubstantial" misinformation about the penalty given to the defendant during the plea colloquy. In contrast, the plea colloquy in the present case correctly informed the defendant of the penalty for armed robbery without a penalty enhancer.

In the present case, unlike in *Cross*, the defendant's acceptance of the State's proposed plea agreement and the defendant's entry of the plea of no-contest to armed robbery were inducted by "significant" misinformation the defendant received prior to the plea colloquy regarding the penalty he would fact if he did not accept the State's proposed plea agreement and enter a plea of no contest.

Dillard, 2014 WI 123, fn. 22.

While Ms. Hughes contends that the "weighing" of the error supported by *Cross* in the assessment of whether plea withdrawal is necessary is simply not applicable to *Nelson/Bentley* claims where a defendant receives fundamentally incorrect legal advice about the benefits of a plea agreement, there is an argument that

the language of the footnote may leave the question open. Is it simply that *Cross* is inapplicable to *Dillard* because it is a different type of claim, that the decision to enter into the plea agreement was not an knowing and voluntary one"? Or is it that the error in *Cross* was "insubstantial" while that in *Dillard* was "substantial" due to the differences in the two maximum possible penalties involved? The answer is not entirely clear from the *Dillard* holding.

In the instant case, the court of appeals has concluded that absent other instructions on this issue, *Cross* permits a reviewing court to decide whether misinformation regarding a plea negotiation is "significant" enough for the decision to enter the plea to be held to one that is not knowing and voluntary as a matter of law. This conclusion, however, seems to run counter to the protections of the Sixth Amendment, which make the decision of whether to enter into a plea and relieve the State from its burden of proving the case beyond a reasonable doubt at trial a defendant's alone¹.

Some decisions, however, are reserved for the client—notably, whether to plead guilty, waive the right to a jury trial, testify in one's own behalf, and forgo an appeal. *See Jones v. Barnes*, 463 U. S. 745, 751 (1983).

Autonomy to decide that the objective of the defense is to assert innocence belongs in this latter category. Just as a defendant may steadfastly refuse to plead guilty in the face of overwhelming evidence against her, or reject the assistance of legal counsel despite the defendant's own (continued)

¹ The U.S. Supreme Court has recently opined on the important of a client's autonomy regarding certain decisions including the entry of a guilty plea in *McCoy v. Louisiana*, 584 U.S. ____, 6-7 (2018), holding:

As a result, guidance on this issue is necessary on this issue, as application of the court of appeal's interpretation of the applicability of the *Cross* holding to *Nelson/Bangert* claims will have widespread impact on the constitutional protections of criminal litigants of this state for years to come.

This holding in essence allows a reviewing court to step into the shoes of a defendant and decide whether that person should have entered into a plea agreement had they had the correct information. This process will without question invade the autonomy of the criminal defendant and supplants the defendant's interests and wishes for the court's preferences, a practice Ms. Hughes implores this court to halt.

As such, Ms. Hughes seeks review of the court of appeals decision in this case as it involves a real and significant question of both federal and state constitutional law, a question that appears to have been answered in *State v. Dillard* but is one that the court of

inexperience and lack of professional qualifications, so may she insist on maintaining her innocence at the guilt phase of a capital trial. These are not strategic choices about how best to achieve a client's objectives; they are choices about what the client's objectives in fact are. See Weaver v. Massachusetts, 582 U. S. ____, ___ (2017) (slip op., at 6) (2017) (self-representation will often increase the likelihood of an unfavorable outcome but "is based on the fundamental legal principle that a defendant must be allowed to make his own choices about the proper way to protect his own liberty"); Martinez v. Court of Appeal of Cal., Fourth Appellate Dist., 528 U. S. 152, 165 (2000) (Scalia, J., concurring in judgment) ("Our system of laws generally presumes that the criminal defendant, after being fully informed, knows his own best interests and does not need them dictated by the State.").

Case 2021AP001834 Petition for Review Filed 12-01-2022 Page 11 of 36

appeals believes to still be unclear, and finally involves application of the *Cross* holding in a way that appears in direct conflict with the *Dillard* case. Wis. Stat. §809.62(1r)(a), (c), and (d).

STATEMENT OF THE CASE & FACTS

On December 3, 2016, Ms. Hughes was charged in the instant case in the original criminal complaint with four counts, as follows:

Count One: Neglecting a Child, Causing Death, Party to a Crime, contrary to Wis. Stat. §§948.21(1)(d), 939.05;

Count Two: Neglecting a Child, Causing Great Bodily Harm, Party to a Crime, contrary to Wis. Stat. §§948.21(1)(c), 939.05;

Count Five: Child Abuse, Failing to Prevent Harm, contrary to Wis. Stat. §948.03(4)(b);

Count Six: Child Abuse, Failing to Prevent Harm, contrary to Wis. Stat. §948.03(4)(b).

(1).

In support of the charges, the probable cause section of the criminal complaint in this case asserts that on the morning of November 29, 2016, Ms. Hughes, J.W. and L.F. awoke to find T.W., who was seven years old, struggling to breathe and in and out of consciousness. (1:6-8). At the time, Ms. Hughes, her son, L.F., and her two young cousins, J.W. and T.W., were residing at the home of the co-defendant, Mary Martinez. The complaint details the forensic interviews of child witnesses L.F. and J.W., which stated that Ms. Martinez

Case 2021AP001834 Petition for Review Filed 12-01-2022 Page 12 of 36

had physically assaulted T.W. the night prior, November 28, 2016, before they went to bed and while Ms. Hughes was not present. (1:7-8).

In the morning upon waking, it was discovered that T.W. was in a medical crisis and unresponsive. Ms. Hughes begged Ms. Martinez to call 911, but Ms. Martinez refused to do so, telling Ms. Hughes to go dump T.W.'s body in the woods. (1:6-8). Ms. Hughes, who had planned to move out of the residence that day with the children, was all packed to go. When Ms. Martinez prevented her from calling 911, Ms. Hughes loaded the children into the car to take T.W. to St. Luke's Hospital. (1:6-8). T.W. was unresponsive upon arrival and after transport to Children's Hospital, succumbed to his injuries inflicted upon him by Ms. Martinez that same day.

Ms. Hughes was taken into custody and interviewed about T.W.'s death. She denied causing the injuries to T.W., J.W., and L.T. were both subject to forensic interviews, as well. During the forensic interviews of J.W. and L.F., neither child alleged that Ms. Hughes had harmed T.W. or J.W. and both stated that it was Ms. Martinez would both physically assault the two brothers and withhold food from them and not Ms. Hughes. (1:6-8). As a result of the reports from J.W. and L.F., Ms. Martinez was also arrested within days of T.W.'s death and interviewed by police.

On December 12, 2016, after the filing of only the original four-count complaint, Ms. Hughes waived her right to a preliminary hearing. As a result, no testimony was taken and the bind over determination was made based solely upon the probable cause section of the criminal complaint. (42). That same day, the State filed

Case 2021AP001834 Petition for Review Filed 12-01-2022 Page 13 of 36

an information reflecting the identical four counts as those charged in the original criminal complaint. (106).

The case remained in a trial posture throughout the litigation, with a final pretrial and trial date set for May 26, 2017 and June 5, 2017, respectively. Throughout the process, it was clear that Ms. Hughes intended to dispute the allegations and go to trial on the matter. (93). At the final pretrial hearing one week before the jury trial was set to begin, the State filed a new information with the court, amending the charges as follows:

Count One: First Degree Reckless Homicide, Party to a Crime, Wis. Stat. §§940.02(1), 939.05;

Count Two: Neglecting a Child, Causing Great Bodily Harm, contrary to Wis. Stat. §948.21(1)(c);

Count Three: Child Abuse, Failing to Prevent Harm, contrary to Wis. Stat. §948.03(4)(b);

Count Four: Child Abuse, Failing to Prevent Harm, contrary to Wis. Stat. §948.03(4)(b);

Count Five: Physical Abuse of a Child, Repeated Acts Causing Bodily Harm, Party to a Crime, contrary to Wis. Stat. §948.03(5)(a), 939.05.

Count Six: Physical Abuse of a Child, Repeated Acts Causing Bodily Harm, Party to a Crime, contrary to Wis. Stat. §948.03(5)(a), 939.05.

(12).

Case 2021AP001834 Petition for Review Filed 12-01-2022 Page 14 of 36

The amendment increased Ms. Hughes' prison exposure by more than one hundred years. Additionally, at that hearing, the State filed a notice of expert testimony, a notice of intent to use J.W. and L.F.'s forensic interviews, and its witness list.

The court accepted the amended information and permitted the addition of the new homicide charge and upgrading of the remaining charges without any argument or supplementing of the factual basis from either party. (43). There was no objection by the defense at that time to the filing of the amended information. (43). The case continued in a trial posture at that time and the matter was set over for trial, which was scheduled to begin on June 6, 2017. (43).

The day before the trial was to start, Ms. Hughes' entered pleas of "no contest" to the four initial charges found in the original complaint and information, though the State moved to strike all party to a crime modifiers on those four counts. (40). The matter was set out for sentencing, and a presentence investigation report ordered by the court. (20; 32). On July 20, 2017, the Honorable M. Joseph Donald sentenced Ms. Hughes to a total sentence between all counts of 20 years initial confinement and 15 years of extended supervision. (30; 32).

On June 1, 2021, Ms. Hughes filed a postconviction motion asserting several claims related to the filing of the amended information, its timing and counsel's failure to object to the filing of the three additional charges. (87). Ms. Hughes alleged the following errors had occurred:

1. The amended information was filed by the State and accepted by the court in error Case 2021AP001834 Petition for Review Filed 12-01-2022 Page 15 of 36

because the complaint and the record at the time of filing contained no factual basis supporting the addition of the three new counts filed against Ms. Hughes.

- 2. The amended information was filed by the State and accepted by the court in error because counts three and four were multiplicitous to counts five and six, and the legislature likewise specifically prohibited the charging of the multiple counts in section 948.03(5)(c), *Stats*.
- 3. Because the amended information was filed in error and Ms. Hughes was incorrectly led to believe her exposure had legally increased by more than one hundred years by the filing of the three new charges, a manifest injustice has occurred because her understanding of the plea agreement at the time she waived her right to trial was based on presumptions that were false.
- 4. Because of the late filing of the three new charges less than two weeks before trial, Ms. Hughes' counsel could not be properly prepared to defend her case, and this deprived her of right to effective assistance of counsel.
- 5. Trial counsel was ineffective as a matter of law for failing to object to the amended information and for providing Ms. Hughes with incorrect advice regarding the value of the final plea agreement.

(87).

Case 2021AP001834 Petition for Review Filed 12-01-2022 Page 16 of 36

On September 2, 2021, the circuit court issued a written decision denying all claims raised by Ms. Hughes in her postconviction motion. (100). Related to the previously stated five arguments of Ms. Hughes, the court concluded the following:

- 1. The amended information was properly filed because the new charges were related to the context of the initial investigation and the allegations that Ms. Hughes had personally physically abused J.W. and T.W., while not detailed throughout the complaint, were transactionally related to the facts in the complaint. (100:7-9).
- 2. The court briefly addressed the multiplicity argument, concluding there was no issue, because "[c]ounts three and four were based on the defendant's knowledge that Martinez was abusing TW and JW and her failure to prevent the abuse, and counts five and six were based on the defendant's repeated abuse of TW and JW, either directly or as a party to a crime." (100:9-10). Therefore, the court wrote, the "charges are plainly not identical in law or fact." (100:10).
- 3. Because the amended information was properly filed in the court's eyes and contained probable cause, there was no illusory plea bargain and the benefit Ms. Hughes' received was real and significant. (100:10).
- 4. Based on the supplemental information provided by the State regarding the advance notice to counsel of the forthcoming charges,

Case 2021AP001834 Petition for Review Filed 12-01-2022 Page 17 of 36

the court found that there was no issue with adequate notice that implicated Ms. Hughes' due process rights or her counsel's ability to defend against the new allegations. (100:10-12).

5. Because the court found that there was no prejudice regarding counsel's failure to object to the amended information (i.e., the amendment to the information and its subsequent acceptance by the court was proper), trial counsel was not ineffective as a matter of law. (100:12-13).

Ms. Hughes submitted a timely notice of appeal challenging the adverse decision of the circuit court. The parties submitted briefs on the issues and at the conclusion of the briefing period, the court of appeals requested additional submissions on the relevance of *State v. Cross.* (June 28, 2022 Court Order Requesting Parties to Submit Letter Briefs Addressing What, If Any, Impact *State v. Cross*, 2010 WI 70, 326 Wis. 2d 492, 786 N.W.2d 64, has on this case).

Both the State and Ms. Hughes asserted in their letter briefs that the *Cross* matter was inapposite of the issues before the court in the instant case. The State, for its part, asserted that "[t]he dispute in *Cross* was whether such a minor mistake during the colloquy was sufficient to amount to a *Bangert* violation and trigger the hearing process." (State's Response to CTO, 2). As this case does not involve a *Bangert* issue and was really a claim of ineffective assistance of counsel in the State's view, it concluded that *Cross* had little impact. (State's Response to CTO, 3).

In the defense response, Ms. Hughes asserted that the *Cross* holding was likewise not on point for the issue presented in this case. (Defendant's Response to CTO).

Following submissions, the court of appeals issued a decision denying Ms. Hughes request for plea withdrawal. Regarding the two issues presented in this petition for review, the court of appeals found that Ms. Hughes was correct that there was a multiplicity issue in this matter and that counsel was deficient for failing to move for dismissal of the two multiplicitous counts. (COA Decision, ¶¶29-32, ¶43). The court, however, concluded that Ms. Hughes was not entitled to relief.

The court held that *State v. Cross* was applicable in the *Nelson/Bentley* context and that the court could assess the significance of the misinformation provided regarding the benefits of the plea negotiation. The court concluded that the error in Ms. Hughes being informed that she was receiving a benefit of the dismissal of two additional charges when conviction on those offenses and two Class F felonies to which she pled was not legally permissible on multiplicity grounds was not a significant factor in her decision to enter into the plea agreement². The court wrote:

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