FILED 12-13-2022 CLERK OF WISCONSIN SUPREME COURT

#### STATE OF WISCONSIN

#### IN SUPREME COURT

No. 2021AP1834-CR

STATE OF WISCONSIN,

Plaintiff -Respondent,

v.

ETTER L. HUGHES,

Defendant-Appellant-Petitioner.

# RESPONSE TO PETITION FOR REVIEW

JOSHUA L. KAUL Attorney General of Wisconsin

LISA E.F. KUMFER Assistant Attorney General State Bar #1099788

Attorneys for Plaintiff-Respondent

Wisconsin Department of Justice Post Office Box 7857 Madison, Wisconsin 53707-7857 (608) 267-2796 (608) 294-2907 (Fax) kumferle@doj.state.wi.us

#

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

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> Hill v. Lockhart, 474 U.S. 52 (1985).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> State v. Cross, 2010 WI 70, 326 Wis. 2d 492, 786 N.W.2d 64.

Filed 12-13-2022

case, does pose problems. If this Court grants Hughes's petition, it should take the opportunity to remind the court of appeals that courts are neutral arbiters of the legal issues presented to them and should decide cases on the narrowest possible grounds.

#### STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

### Tyler's Death and Hughes's Plea

On November 29, 2016, a car pulled into the ambulance bay at St. Luke's Hospital, and Etter L. Hughes jumped out, calling out that she had "an unresponsive baby." (R. 1:3.) The first victim, seven-year-old Tyler, had to be physically carried into the emergency room by hospital staff. (R. 1:3.) Hughes was accompanied by another child, nine-year-old Jake. (R. 1:3.) Hughes said she was the boys' cousin and that she found Tyler unresponsive when she woke up. (R. 1:3.) Hughes passed a handwritten note to the security guard, Ikeya Thigpen. (R. 1:3.) It blamed Jake for the extensive injuries over Tyler's body. (R. 1:3.)

Tyler was admitted to St. Luke's Hospital. (R. 1:3.) He was "pulseless, unresponsive, and cold to the touch." (R. 1:3.) CPR was administered, and Tyler was intubated. (R. 1:3.) He "coded multiple times, the longest of which lasted 40 minutes" before doctors were able to get a pulse back. (R. 1:3.) A pediatric child abuse specialist documented that Tyler's body was marked with a litany of wounds on almost every body part, some old and scarred over and some fresh, including marks that indicated he had been beaten with a looped cord or belt and several ligature lacerations indicating he'd been bound at the wrists, ankles, and neck at some point. (R. 1:3-4.) Tyler was also severely malnourished, weighing only 44 pounds and with his bones prominently visible beneath his

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> The State uses pseudonyms for all of the children involved in this case.

skin. (R. 1:4.) The doctor concluded that Tyler's severe malnutrition and multiple patterned injuries in various stages of healing were "consistent with cruelty and torture." (R. 1:4.) Police were immediately notified due to the concern that Tyler had been the victim of prolonged and severe child abuse. (R. 1:3-4.)

Tyler was transferred to Children's Hospital of Wisconsin, but he coded again. (R. 1:3.) After significant CPR and medications were administered without success, the decision to cease life-saving measures was made. (R. 1:3.) Tyler died at 4:45 p.m., roughly five hours after arriving at St. Luke's. (R. 1:3-4.) Jake was hospitalized for life-threatening malnutrition the same day. (R. 1:2, 5-6.) He was also found to have similar injuries to Tyler over his whole body, including multiple healed and fresh wounds, ligature scars, and abundant looped cord injuries. (R. 1:5.)

Hughes told police that she was originally from Helena, Arkansas and decided to move her family to Milwaukee in August, 2016 to find a better job. (R. 1:5.) Hughes's second cousin, Tyler and Jake's mother, was supposed to move her family to Milwaukee as well and sent the boys ahead with Hughes. (R. 1:5.) Their mother never relocated from Arkansas, however, and Hughes's fiancé was arrested and sent back to Arkansas. (R. 1:5.) Thereafter, Hughes reached out to Mary Martinez, whom Hughes had met in prison while serving a sentence for another child homicide, for a place to stay. (R. 1:5.) Martinez allowed Hughes, Hughes's 13-year-old son Lewis, Tyler, and Jake to move into the house Martinez shared with her adult son Carlos Gonzalez. (R. 1:5–6.)

Hughes said Tyler and Jake had rampant behavior problems and these made Martinez extremely angry to the point of expressing deep hatred for them and a desire to hurt them. (R. 1:6.) Hughes said she had noticed the boys' extreme weight loss but had no explanation for it; she also said she had noticed the numerous injuries on the boys but believed

Filed 12-13-2022

they were the result of Jake and Tyler fighting. (R. 1:6.) Hughes eventually said that she believed Martinez had been abusing the children. (R. 1:6.)

Gonzalez, however, told a very different story. He had personally witnessed Hughes beating Jake and Tyler, and Hughes had given Martinez permission to "physically discipline" them as well. (R. 1:7.) Gonzalez knew that Martinez routinely beat them, too, because he could hear her doing so from his bedroom. (R. 1:7.) Gonzalez also recalled an incident when he returned home and found the children tied up and seated on the floor behind the couch. (R. 1:7.) Martinez told him Hughes had tied them. (R. 1:7.)

The State charged Martinez and Hughes each with several crimes related to the boys' prolonged torture and Tyler's death. (R. 1:1-2.) Because initially most of the physical acts were believed to have been perpetrated by Martinez, Hughes was charged with one count of child neglect resulting in death, one count of child neglect resulting in great bodily harm, and two counts of failure to prevent bodily harm to a child. (R.1:2.) The two cases were severed shortly after both defendants waived the preliminary hearing and thereafter proceeded separately. (R. 38:2.)

At a bail hearing in March 2017, however, the State informed the court and the defense that Jake, now safe in a foster home, began making further disclosures detailing severe physical abuse of both boys perpetrated by Hughes herself. (R. 39:4.) A week before the final pretrial hearing, the State informed the defense that it intended to amend the charges against Hughes to reflect her more active participation in the abuse. (R. 92.)

Accordingly, on the morning of the final pretrial conference, the State filed an amended information. (R. 12; 43:3.) This changed count one to first-degree reckless homicide as a party to a crime for Tyler's death, count two

remained child neglect causing great bodily harm, counts three and four were the two failure-to-protect charges, and the information added two counts of repeated physical abuse of a child causing great bodily harm as a party to a crime, one for each boy. (R. 12; 43:3.) Hughes did not object to the amendment, waived reading of the charges, and entered not guilty pleas. (R. 43:3.)

A few days after the amendment, and having reviewed everything the State had sent in discovery, defense counsel noted that the strength of the State's case had "become even more apparent," and inquired if the State would consider a plea. (R. 93:5.) The parties eventually agreed that Hughes would plead no contest to the charges alleged in the original information: one count of child neglect resulting in death, one count of child neglect resulting in great bodily harm, and two counts of failure to prevent bodily harm to a child. (R. 93:1.) The two physical abuse of a child counts would be dismissed, and the State would recommend "substantial prison" but not a specific term of years at sentencing. (R. 93:1.)

The circuit court accepted the plea and ultimately sentenced Hughes to 20 years of initial confinement and 15 years of extended supervision. (R. 32:46-47; 40:16-17.)

# Postconviction Proceedings

Hughes thereafter moved to withdraw her plea, alleging that the amended charges were not transactionally related to the facts alleged in the criminal complaint and that trial counsel was thus ineffective for failing to object to the amendment. (R. 87:1–2.) She further claimed counsel was ineffective for failing to recognize that two of the six counts in the amended information were multiplicitous, amounting to counsel ineffectively giving Hughes incorrect advice about the plea. The circuit court denied the motion without a hearing. (R. 100.) Hughes appealed, raising both the transactionally-related-facts and multiplicity claims as stand-alone issues,

(Hughes's Ct. App. Br. 9–24) and arguing in the alternative that counsel was ineffective for failing to raise them prior to entry of the plea. (Hughes's Ct. App. Br. 24–28.) She made no mention of how she was prejudiced, however, and failed to explain why she would have insisted on going to trial if counsel had succeeded on either challenge.

The court of appeals reframed the entire case as questioning whether Hughes knowingly, intelligently, and voluntarily entered her plea. (Pet-App. 3-19.) It therefore dispensed with the required framework for claims of ineffective assistance of counsel during the plea process established by Hill v. Lockhart, 474 U.S. 52 (1985) and did not require Hughes to show that there was a reasonable probability that if counsel objected to the amended charges as not factually related to the original complaint, or moved to dismiss the two multiplicitous counts, she would have insisted on going to trial on the four remaining charges instead of accepting the plea to different ones. Instead, it looked to this Court's decision in State v. Cross, 2010 WI 70, 326 Wis. 2d 492, 786 N.W.2d 64—a case about whether a Bangert<sup>4</sup> hearing was necessary for minor errors in a plea colloquy—to determine that Hughes was not entitled to withdraw her plea because the sentence she faced on the four charges that would have remained if a multiplicity challenge was made was not substantially higher than the sentence she believed she faced if convicted of all six charges. (Pet-App. 3–19.)

#### **ARGUMENT**

This case would involve only error correction of the legal rationale used to reach the ultimate decision, because Hughes could not prevail even if the court of appeals had applied the correct law on ineffective assistance of counsel to this case.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> State v. Bangert, 131 Wis. 2d 246, 266–67, 389 N.W.2d 12 (1986).

Hughes never even made an allegation that she would have rejected the plea agreement to the original charges, which cut her sentencing exposure in half, if counsel would have made the challenges to the charges in the amended information that Hughes claimed she should have postconviction. Should this Court grant Hughes's petition even though it involves only error correction, though, it should take this opportunity to reaffirm the importance of the party presentation rule.

As both the United States Supreme Court and this Court have observed, "In our adversarial system of adjudication, we follow the principal of party presentation." United States v. Sineneng-Smith, 140 S. Ct. 1575, 1579 (2020); see also State v. Negrete, 2012 WI 92, ¶ 80 n.20, 343 Wis. 2d 1, 819 N.W.2d 749 (Abrahamson, C.J., dissenting) ("As various members of this court have said, we should not 'reach out and decide issues' that were not presented to the court by the parties."). "[A]s a general rule, our system 'is designed around the premise that [parties represented by competent counsell know what is best for them, and are responsible for advancing the facts and argument entitling them to relief." Sineneng-Smith, 140 S. Ct. at 1579 (citation omitted). "[Clourts are essentially passive instruments of government.' They 'do not, or should not, sally forth each day looking for wrongs to right. [They] wait for cases to come to [them], and when [cases arise, courts] normally decide only the questions presented by the parties." Sineneng-Smith, 140 S. Ct. at 1579 (citation omitted).

There are good reasons for this rule. An appellant may be pursuing relief in a particular way to avoid negative consequences that could arise if analyzed under a different theory of law than the one they chose to present. See, e.g., State v. Comstock, 168 Wis. 2d 915, 921, 485 N.W.2d 354 (1992) (holding that courts must refrain from sua sponte vacating a validly accepted guilty or no contest plea against the defendant's will, particularly where he was seeking

merely sentence modification.). Respondents are put at a distinct disadvantage if the court decides cases on grounds not raised by the appellant, as they cannot be expected to divine that the court of appeals will be deciding the case on different grounds and preemptively address them. And appellate courts take care not to "blindside trial courts with reversals based on theories which did not originate in their forum." Schonscheck v. Paccar, Inc., 2003 WI App 79, ¶ 11, 261 Wis. 2d 769, 661 N.W.2d 476 (citation omitted).

By abandoning legal theories raised and argued by the parties and addressing issues on its own prerogative, an appellate court does a disservice to both the parties and to the lower courts who were never given an opportunity to pass on the question under the theories now being addressed. Moreover, addressing new or unnecessary issues may cause the court to fail to decide the case on the narrowest possible grounds or to render advisory opinions on issues that did not need to be discussed.

Again, the State agrees with Hughes that the court of appeals erred in jettisoning the ineffective assistance of counsel framework on which Hughes's claim was preserved and argued in both the circuit court and the court of appeals, and instead addressing a claim Hughes never raised by applying a line of case law that dealt with an entirely different issue: the burden-shifting framework of *Bangert* and when a circuit court must hold a hearing after a faulty plea colloquy. These are distinctly different issues, and accordingly the legal analysis required under each is different. Moreover, neither party was given a full opportunity to brief this issue. The court of appeals requested supplemental letter briefs—to be filed in a very short timespan and both to be submitted at the same time—on "what, if any, impact the case of Cross... has on this case," and told to "analyze how Cross does or does not apply to the circumstances presented." (Order dated June 28, 2022.) It never informed the parties that it had recast the

entire case to analyze whether the plea was knowingly and intelligently entered rather than to determine if counsel performed deficiently and whether Hughes was prejudiced.

And importantly, both parties in their letter briefs explained that Cross dealt with the tension between the mandatory Bangert hearing procedure and a demonstrably harmless error, meaning it was too far afield from the ineffective assistance claims raised here to have any impact on this case, and that it should not apply—which is why neither party briefed it initially. The court of appeals, however, opted to decide this ineffective assistance case based on Cross's discussion of the Bangert procedure, anyway.

The court of appeals has taken this approach—either deciding cases based on a legal reframing of an issue or discussing unnecessary ones—in several recent cases. See, e.g., State v. Rejholec, 2021 WI App 45, ¶¶ 28–35, 398 Wis. 2d 729, 963 N.W.2d 121 (reversing and remanding for plea withdrawal based on a Miranda waiver invalidation issue not raised or briefed by either party); State v. Von Jackson, No. 2019AP2383-CR, 2021 WL 6132278, ¶¶ 62–88 (Wis. Ct. App. Dec. 29, 2021) (Reilly, J., dissenting) (unpublished) (urging to reverse and remand a case based on arguments the appellant abandoned in the circuit court and did not raise on appeal); State v. Abbott, 2020 WI App 25, ¶¶ 43–48, 392 Wis. 2d 232, 944 N.W.2d 8 (recognizing that the court was bound by this Court's prior precedent on a burden of persuasion issue but nevertheless engaging in a lengthy discussion of why it did not find the arguments about it persuasive); State v. Hineman, No. 2020AP226-CR, 2021 WL 5498719, ¶¶ 49-52 (Wis. Ct. App. Nov. 24, 2021) (unpublished) (abandoning the interest of justice framework under which the defendant's request for an in camera inspection of therapy records was raised, analyzing the issue on a stand-alone merits basis, and granting a request based on an unclear record of how the

victim gained his sexual knowledge, untethered from the Shiffra/Green framework).

To reiterate, the State does not believe this case warrants this Court's review because it would serve only to correct the faulty legal rationale under which the court of appeals nevertheless reached the correct conclusion. If this Court does take the case, though, it should address the party presentation rule and take the opportunity to remind the court of appeals of its importance.

#### CONCLUSION

This Court should deny the petition for review.